
T
he UCD campus at Earls-
fort Terrace closes
almost exactly 100 years
after the National Uni-

versity of Ireland (NUI)
admitted women students and
staff on equal terms with their
male counterparts. With the
passing of the Universities Act
(1908) two universities were
established: Queen’s University
in Belfast, and the NUI with
three constituent colleges (Cork,
Dublin and Galway).

Women could attend lectures
with men, they could take the
same examinations, and – impor-
tantly – they did not need to be
chaperoned.

The huge change that this
brought about is perhaps only
fully appreciated when one con-
siders the resistance to female
education that was common-
place in the late 19th century. It
was not uncommon to read the
views of prominent physicians in
the popular press, advising par-
ents that education could greatly
damage their daughters.

In 1882, the prominent physi-
cian Sir Thomas Clouston
declared: “I have seen girls, the
daughters of well-grown parents,
who simply stopped growing too
soon. . . this being caused, as I
believe, by the vital and nervous
forces being appropriated by the
mental part of the brain in
learning”.

His ideas were widely circu-
lated at exactly the time that the
first attempts were being made at
opening higher education to
women.

Resistance to educational pro-
vision for Catholic women also
came from the Church. It was
viewed that women fulfilled
their destiny in marriage and
motherhood, an attitude neatly
reflected in the Freeman’s
Journal (September 22nd, 1883):
“Now Ireland as a Catholic
Nation wishes that women
should adorn society more by
virtue than by learning . . . it is the
part of woman to become a
faithful wife, a loving mother, the
angel guardian of her family, and
an expert housewife”.

Against such a backdrop, it is
perhaps not surprising to find
that there was little interest in
university education for women.
However, in 1879 the Royal Uni-
versity of Ireland (RUI) was

established as an examining
body, which awarded degrees.

Activists such as Isabella Tod
(1836-96) managed to have
women included under the terms
of the Act, and this was to bring
about immediate changes. Stu-
dents entering for RUI examina-
tions could be prepared at any
college or private institution, a
situation that suited women per-
fectly.

The first RUI women gradu-
ates were prepared at private
“grind schools” such as McIntosh
and Tinkler’s, and at Protestant
schools and colleges such as Alex-
andra College and Victoria Col-
lege, Belfast.

Very quickly, Catholics
expressed concern that Catholic
girls who wanted degrees were
being prepared at Protestant col-
leges. Dr William Walsh, Arch-
bishop of Dublin, responded by
asking the Dominican Sisters to
establish a Catholic women’s col-

lege in Dublin, and in 1893, St
Mary’s University College
opened.

A year later, two more “wom-
en’s colleges” opened: the Loreto
College, St Stephen’s Green, and
St Angela’s College, Cork.

In June, 1892, over 10,000 Irish
women signed a memorial

requesting that Trinity College
be opened to women. The
response of the board was that
parents did not send their sons to
Trinity to find themselves “entan-
gled in an imprudent match”.
However, by the end of the cen-
tury almost every university in
England and Scotland had

allowed women to attend lec-
tures and sit examinations, and in
Ireland there was pressure to do
away with the seemingly inferior
“women’s colleges” and simply
open all universities to women.

In 1908, with the passing of the
Universities Act, women could
finally enter the university col-

leges as students and as staff.
Among the first distinguished
women academics appointed at
UCD was the historian Professor
Mary Hayden, who lectured
there from 1909 to 1938, and
served on the UCD Governing
body and the NUI senate.

Within the same period, Pro-

fessor Mary Macken lectured in
German, Maria Deganai was a
professor of Spanish and Italian,
and Agnes O’Farrelly became
Professor of Irish in 1932.

AT EARLSFORT TERRACE, women
attended university lectures, but
their contact with the opposite
sex was limited.

They lived at home, or in uni-
versity residences such as Loreto
Hall and Dominican Hall on St
Stephen’s Green, and they sat
together in lectures.

Women were often self-con-
scious, as they negotiated the pre-
dominantly male territory that
was Earlsfort Terrace, and even
the very steps of the UCD build-
ings on St Stephen’s Green were
social minefields.

In the University Review
(1962), novelist Kate O'Brien
(UCD 1916-1919) recalled “the
ordeal of coming out of the
Green at the gate that fronted 86 .

. . the porch was filled all day
with male geniuses, and though
one was not finally concerned
with the opinions of one’s hat, or
legs, or intelligence that might be
pronounced as one passed, by
Eimar O’Duffy or Long John
Meagher. . . or Michael Tierney –
still one was young and momen-
tarily at their mercy”.

Like many of the early UCD
students, O’Brien had clear mem-
ories of the Physics Theatre
filled with hundreds of youths,
the “crumpled black” of the semi-
narians and the groups of girls sit-
ting together at the front.

A student in the late 1940s, Mil-
dred O’Brien (née Collins) also
recalls that the women students
sat at the front of lectures,
directly behind any nuns who
were students, and in front of all
the men.

She remembers the social life
at UCD vividly: “We went to the
‘hops’ on Tuesday and Friday
nights, which finished about
9.30pm, and we had to be back
into Loreto Hall on the dot of
10pm. And there were marvel-
lous dress dances run by the col-
lege societies, and held in the Gre-
sham Hotel. They cost 12/6d, and
we went to three or four of those
each term, wearing the same
dress several times. We had a
busy social life at the Terrace.
And of course you could fail
exams forever and just repeat
them – there was no rush.”

Women used the Ladies’
Reading Room inside the main
hall, but they also had access to
the library and the college restau-
rant there. The restaurant
allowed social contact with male
students, as did the college socie-
ties.

Women students didn’t typi-
cally frequent pubs before the
1930s and 1940s, but strolled over
to the Monument Creamery, or
Robert’s Café.

University life was centred on
Earlsfort Terrace. And Belfield,
as one graduate recalled: “Was
merely a place where you went
to play tennis on poor courts.”

❑ Dr Deirdre Raftery is deputy
head of the School of Education
at UCD. Her most recent book
is Female Education in Ireland,
1700-1900: Minerva or
Madonna (Irish Academic
Press, 2007; ¤27.50)

An A-Z of the L&H

Farewell to the Terrace
The long and hard road to acceptance

The L&H (Literary and Histor-
ical Society) at UCD has long
provided many of the more
rumbustious and combustible
moments in UCD’s history, a
tradition that was marinated in
Earlsfort Terrace and has been
continued steadfastly at Belf-
ield for the past 35 years.

The L&H was founded by
John Henry Newman in
1855/56. Traditionally, it meets
once a week to debate the
topics of the day and by 2004, it
had become the largest student
society in Ireland. It’s also one
of the few survivors at UCD of
the old Catholic University her-
itage.

Many of its sessions over the
decades have been hot and
heavy, a tradition maintained
up to the present day, although
if anything the L&H has
become that little bit more
respectable over the past few
years.

But earlier in its existence,
contentious debate was the
order of the day and the L&H
could claim speakers of great
distinction. Two of the early
founding figures of Irish inde-
pendence, Patrick Pearse and
Eamon de Valera, both
addressed the society. Way
back, in old God’s time, in 1900,
a young James Joyce tried and
failed to become auditor of the
L&H, which even in those
ancient times, had immense
credibility.

However, after the Treaty
and the setting up of the Free
State, the 26 counties settled
back into being a cosy grocers’
county council and much of the
edge of earlier debates was lost.

But come the early 1930s, and
one literary figure who added
much spice to the proceedings

was Flann O’Brien (aka Myles
na gCopaleen, real name Brian
O’Nolan or Briain Ó Nualláin.
He entered UCD in 1929 to
study for a BA in English,
German and Irish, at a time
when the first generations of
politicians and lawyers for the
new Ireland were starting to be
churned out in abundance at
Earlsfort Terrace. However,
O’Brien sided with the Mob,
which gathered in the adjoining
lobby to heckle the speakers in
the actual L&H debates.

In the 1950s, before the Late
Late Show was invented on

RTÉ, the L&H was a real-life
precursor. Indeed, as Maeve
Binchy was to recall, the L&H
was the “sex of the 1950s”.

Her rendition of The Purple
People Eater at the L&H is still
fondly remembered in certain
quarters. It was also said in the
1950s that the house at L&H
debates was packed with gur-
riers, although some wore
evening clothes.

The late 1950s, ferment was
starting to brew in Ireland and
the L&H provided some of the
yeast for the growing revolt

over social and intellectual con-
formity in Irish society. Des-
mond Green, who was auditor
in 1960/61, recalls that in those
days, education was repressive.
According to Green, the L&H
was where a few people let in
the light and oxygen of
freedom. At one stage, in 1961,
the L&H was banned by the uni-
versity and the agm had to be
held in the Shelbourne Hotel.
Desmond Green was elected
auditor in an election that took
place in a car outside Earlsfort
Terrace.

“They were heady days
indeed,” he recollects. Then Fr
Fergal O’Connor arrived to
challenge the students at Earls-
fort Terrace to think for them-
selves, to seek their own truth.

In the late 1960s, one of the
best quips of all ever heard in
the L&H, when the then US
ambassador asked rhetorically
how the US was going to release
itself from the terrible imbro-
glio of Vietnam. An unknown
heckler replied: “Send (Presi-
dent) Johnson to Dallas.”

If the 1960s began with the
L&H being banned by the out-
raged university authorities, it
ended with out-and-out revolt.
In 1969, occupation was the
order of the day and such
young radicals as Ruairi Quinn
were to the forefront of protest.

But in 1972, the L&H cut
loose from Earlsfort Terrace
and shifted to Belfield. In the
process, it swapped its debates
from Saturday nights to Friday
nights. After it moved place
and time, the L&H just didn’t
dominate the university any
more, even though to this day,
it remains a multi-faceted levia-
than among student societies.

– Hugh Oram
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A SPECIAL REPORT6

Deirdre Raftery
looks back at the
‘place’ of women in
the early (and
not-so-early) days
of UCD at Earlsfort
Terrace

Left: The Nine Graces – the first
nine women to graduate from
university in Ireland. Below left:
women students at Earlsfort
Terrace, and below right: Anne
Kernan lecturing at the Terrace

For debate, the L&H was a starting
point for many a budding politico. . .

L&H debates
were packed
with gurriers,
although some
wore evening
clothes
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